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1.0 Background

The author was asked by Tilhill UPM to carry out an archaeological evaluation, consisting of a desk-based assessment and rapid walk-over survey, of an area of proposed SFGS planting for Poole Common Grazings at Achnanclach, on the east side of Loch Loyal, by Tongue in Sutherland. The object of the evaluation was to identify previously recorded archaeological sites or sites of archaeological or historical interest, to check the accuracy of their records and note associated minor features such as field systems, and to locate and record previously unidentified archaeological features. The ensuing gazetteer of archaeological sites will inform the design of the planting scheme and recommend measures for mitigating the impact of the scheme on the archaeological record.

2.0 Archaeological Background

No previous archaeological evaluation has been carried out in the vicinity of the proposed SFGS scheme.

The following archaeological sites are recorded on the Highland Sites and Monuments Record (SMR) and the National Monuments Record for Scotland (NMRS) as within or adjacent to the present area of evaluation:

Achnanclach Farmstead at NC 630 511

NMRS no. NC65SW 8

One unroofed building and three fields recorded on the 1st edition OS map.

3.0 Historical Background

Loch Loyal is a part of the lands of Strathnaver, held since 1593 by the family of MacKay, or Reay. While the Mackays  disposed of parts of their estate to pay off debts through the 17th and 18th centuries, Loch Loyal remained in Mackay hands until the remains of the estate was sold to the Sutherland family in 1829. However, the reorganisation of the estate into inland sheep farms and coastal resettlement of small tenants was initiated as early as1797. A number of sheep farms were established in 1801, but were further extended between 1805 and 1809 and again after new leases were granted in 1815. Several of the sheep farmers went bankrupt in the economic depression following the end of the Napoleonic wars. It is probably in this period between 1797 and 1829 that the circular sheep shelters, many in remote locations, were built.

Both Roy’s Military Survey, carried out in the 1750s and John Thomson’s map of Sutherland published in 1820 show small townships or farmsteads on the shores of Loch Loyal including Letterbeg (Leitir Bheag) on the east side, but neither map records Achnanclach, suggesting that this was originally a shieling site rather than a permanent settlement, although the omission could be the result of hasty surveying. The placename Achnaclach does appear on Burnett and Scott’s map of 1855 although no buildings are indicated. It is likely that the shieling site was developed as a shepherd’s cottage and sheep enclosures at the beginning of the 19th century; these features were recorded on the 1st edition OS map, surveyed in 1878 before the development of the Sutherland sporting estate. The map shows a ruinous building, marked on the map as a sheepfold, and three irregularly shaped enclosed areas of improved ground

As early as 1797 the potential for the area as a sporting reserve was being considered, with the north end of Loch Loyal suggested as ‘a most beautiful romantic situation for a sporting house or quarters’ but Loch Loyal Lodge was eventually built, in 1883, on the west lochside in a position more convenient to the road. It is probably at this date that the abandoned shepherds cottage at Achnanclach was repaired as a stalkers bothy, with the largest enclosure re-enclosed by a drystone dyke to form a pony field.

The cottage is now in use as a MBA bothy.

4.0 Gazetteer of Archaeological Sites

A rapid walk-over survey was carried out on September 27th 2006 in good weather conditions. The following archaeological features were noted:

1. Achnanclach settlement features c/o NC 630 511. The two eastern small areas of improved ground, edged by low turf and stone dykes, have the appearance of  Early Modern, ie. pre-improvement fields, which could be associated with either a shieling site or a small farmstead. No visible remains of contemporary buildings were noted during this rapid survey, but it is possible that any original house was rebuilt for use by a later shepherd. There is a small square enclosure attached to the head dyke (site no. 2) immediately south of the present cottage. This building, and the building to its SE which is now roofless, are well-built 19th century cottages. The main bothy is on the footprint of the ruins noted on the OS map in 1878 and was at one time a longer buildings, as low stone footings are visible beyond both gable ends. The east footings include a fireplace of brick, a building material which is unlikely to have been brought to the site until the end of the 19th century. The interior of the bothy is wood-lined, which is probably contemporary with the conversion to a stalkers bothy. The second, smaller building has been until recently roofed with corrugated metal and may have been a stable.

2. Head Dyke: Two sections of a turf and stone dyke are located on either side of the stream south of the settlement area: The first section runs SE from behind the bothy, crosses the fence line, curves east and ends at NC 6322 5106. The second section begins on the stream bank at NC 6324 5110 and can be followed to NC 6327 5111 but then becomes indistinct in wet ground.

3. Pony Path from NC 6390 5101 to NC 6320 5071. An indistinct track, ditched on its upper side, runs from the gateway in the drystone dyke to join the Allt Ach nan Clach where this stream emerges from a narrow cleft. The path may originally have continued up into the coire, but could not be traced beyond this point.

5.0 Archaeological Conclusions

It is not clear from this rapid evaluation whether the settlement features represent an early modern farmstead or a shieling site. The section of head dyke south of the buildings suggests a permanent settlement and the building remains noted on the 1878 map could date to before the removal of small tenants. There is an equal uncertainty about the use of the site for sheep farming activities. The drystone dyking could date to the construction of the stalkers’ bothy. However, the mention of a sheepfold on the map does suggest that, at least at that date, there were clear indications of the site’s use by shepherds.

6.0 Recommendations

Only two archaeological features were noted within the area of proposed planting. It is recommended that both are kept clear of planting within corridors approximately 5m in width.
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